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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (“PFRS”).
This Financial Statements meeting the requirements of SRC Rule 68, is furnished as specified
therein.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS OF OPERATION

September 30, 2012 vs. December 31, 2011
In June 2012, the Company inked an Operating Agreement with Geogen Corporation covering the
Dinapigue Nickel Project located in Dinapigue, Isabela with 2,314.2018 hectares. The project with an
approved Mineral Purchase and Sharing Agreement (“MPSA”) is already in the development and
operating stage. NiHAO upon its assumption as operator of the project, merely rehabilitated existing
roads and built new arterial road networks to increase efficiency in moving ore, and developed other
mine infrastructure to comply with regulatory requirements for the development of an efficient mining
operations. In addition, existing extensive activities are being conducted.
For the Group’s nickel mining claims: the Botolan Nickel Project and the Manticao Nickel Project,
NiHAO has focused on community development and community relations while exploration activities
are still suspended. On the Masbate Gold project, the Group is currently concentrating on compliance
with conditions setforth in EP-V-2008-005 and will soon start implementation of the National Greening
Program. On 17 September 2012, NiHAO has inked a MOA with the Capital Gold PTY Ltd. and
Welcome Stranger Mining Ltd. which supersedes the MOU signed on 10 January 2012. Welcome
shall acquire forty percent of the entire issued and outstanding share capital of Masbate 13 in
exchange for 50 million share at an indicative listing market value of AUD 0.20 per share and cash
consideration of USD250,000. NiHAO expects to (1) generate income from this transaction and (2)
raise funds to develop Masbate 13 and thereby increasing earnings potential of Masbate 13.
For the period covering the three quarters of 2012, the Dinapigue Nickel Project reported net sales of
P 65.67 million with cost of sales amounting to P 34.76 million resulting to net gross profit of P 30.91
million. General and administrative expenses incurred during the period amounted to P26.48 million
while the Company reported other income of P43.77 million. Resulting income after taxes amounted
to P47.58 million. A change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets amounting to P17.46
million resulted to a net comprehensive income of P65.05 million.
Oriental Vision Mining Philippines Corporation (“ORVI”), an affiliate of the Group has reported gross
revenues of P 99.81 million covering a total shipment of 104,037 WMT high iron nickel ore. Since no
shipments were made during the third quarter of 2012 a net loss of P79.02 million was incurred, with
NiHAO’s 30% share in the losses equivalent to P23.71 million.
Since May 2012, the Parent Company has been liquidating its shares in Oriental Peninsula
Resources Group, Inc. (“ORE”). As of the end of the third quarter, NiHAO reported a gain on this
investment amounting to P 59.20 million.
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Cash as of September 30, 2012 amounted to P 662.52 million 117.82% or P 358.36 million higher
than the P 304.16 million cash as at December 31, 2011. The increase is brought about by the
private placement transaction on March 2, 2012.
Receivables soared to P 175.44 million from P 0.46 million in December 31, 2011 mainly due to
deposits made to various suppliers and sales receivable relative to the Company’s operations in
Isabela.
Investment in ORE shares went down from P 271.32 million in Dec. 31, 2011 to P 66.90 million as of
September 31, 2012 attributed to the liquidation process undertaken by the Company beginning May
2012.
Investment in ORVI shares amounting to P 51.24 milion is 31.63% or P 23.71 million lower than
December 31, 2011 balances of P 74.94 million mainly due to the Company’s equity in ORVI’s losses
as at September 30, 2012.
A significant increase of P 61.01 million in property and equipment from P 2.50 million as of
December 31, 2011 to P 63.51 million as of September 30, 2012 was due to acquisition of heavy
equipment during the period relative to its Isabela operations.
Total consolidated assets stood at P1,297.55 million, a 41.05% or P 377.63 million increase from
recorded consolidated assets of P919.92 million as of December 31, 2011. The significant increase in
total assets was due to the following transactions:
a) Sale and issuance of thirty three million (33,000,000) shares of the Company at P9.46 per
share by way of a private placement transaction on March 2, 2012. Total private
placement proceeds amounted to P312.18 million.
On February 11, 2012, the Board of Directors approved the execution, delivery and
performance of an Investment Agreement (the “Agreement”) by and among Macquarie
[spell-out pls] (“Macquarie Bank”), NiHAO and one of its major shareholders, embodying
a Multi-tranche Average Price Issuance Program (“Issuance Program”) resulting in
Macquarie Bank’s subscription to newly-issued common shares of stock in NiHAO on a
private placement basis (“Transaction”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, Macquarie Bank agreed to subscribe to NiHAO shares of up
to an aggregate amount of One Hundred Fifty Million (150,000,000) (the “Subscriber
Shares”), which shall be purchased in tranches, from NiHAO’s authorized but unissued
capital stock, provided that, prior to NiHAO’s obtaining the approval of its shareholders to
the Transaction (including the issuances of NiHAO shares to Macquarie Bank),
Macquarie Bank shall not make any subscription that will result in Macquarie Bank’s total
shareholdings in NiHAO exceeding Ninety-Five Million (95,000,000) Shares, which
number is just below ten percent (10%) of the resulting issued capital stock of the
Company.
The first tranche culminated on 02 March 2012 where Macquarie Bank Limited executed
a Subscription Agreement covering the subscription of 33 Million common shares with a
par value of P1.00 per share. The subscribed shares were payable in cash at a
subscription price of P 9.46 per share or an aggregate value of Three Hundred Twelve
Million One Hundred Eighty Thousand Pesos (P 312,180,000.00). The difference
between the aggregate par value of the subscribed shares and the total cash payment
made by Macquarie Bank for the same was shown as additional paid-in capital.
Proceeds from this private placement are currently being used to fund expenses relative
to the Operating Services of the Company to Geogen Corporation.
The Company and Macquarie Bank cannot proceed to the second and subsequent
tranches of this program as the listing of the shares in the first tranche above are still
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pending with the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). To date, the parties have complied
with the requirements of the PSE listing department for this purpose.
b) Sale of ORE shares thru the PSE resulting to a net gain of P 59.20 million.

Total liabilities as of September 30, 2012 amounted to P8.35 million which were 5.09% or P 0.40
million higher than the P 7.95 million recorded liabilities as of December 31, 2011. The increase in
total liabilities was mainly due to withholding taxes on payments made to suppliers relative to its
Isabela operations.
Total deficits went down to P 175.16 million from P 223.26 million as of December 31, 2011 due to net
income generated during the period. On October 22, 2012, the Securities and Exchange Commission
has approved the application of the Parent Company to undergo restructuring to wipe out deficit as of
31 December 2011 amounting to P 150.07 million against the Additional Paid In Capital amounting to
P253.27 million.

September 30, 2012 vs. September 30, 2011
a.

Net operating income for the first three quarters of 2012; net comprehensive income:

As of September 30, 2012, the Company recognized a consolidated net operating income of
P47.58 million, 98.42% or P 23.60 million higher as compared to the recorded income covering
the same period last year of P23.98 million. The increase was brought about by operating income
incurred from its Isabela operations. Other comprehensive income were recorded at P17.46
million, representing increase in market value of its shareholdings in ORE from September 30,
2011 closing price of P3.30 per share to P4.46 per share as of the end of September 2012.
b.

Increase in Assets:

Cash of P 662.52 million was P 311.42 million or 88.70% higher than balances of P 351.10 million
on September 30, 2011. The increase is due to private placements in March 2012 and collection
of advances to ORVI.
P 171.56 million increase in receivables from P 3.88 million in September 2011 to P 175.44
million on September 2012 is mainly due to deposits made to various suppliers and sales
receivable relative to the Company’s operations in Isabela.
Partial payments made by ORVI of its advances resulted to a P 59.95 million or 51.87%
decrease in Advances to Related Parties from P 115.58 million in Sept 2011 to P 55.63 million in
September 2012.
Investment in ORE shares went down by P 84.90 million from P 151.80 million in Sept. 30, 2012
to P 66.90 million as of September 31, 2012 attributed to the liquidation process undertaken by
the Company beginning May 2012.
Investment in ORVI shares amounting to P 51.24 milion is 29.45% or P 21.39 million lower than
September 30, 2011 balances of P 72.63 million mainly due to the Company’s equity in ORVI.
A significant increase of P 62.87 million in property and equipment from P 0.64 million as of
September 30, 2011 to P 63.51 million as of September 30, 2012 was due to acquisition of heavy
equipment during the period relative to its Isabela operations.
Total consolidated assets as of September 30, 2012 were recorded at P1,297.55 million, while
total assets as of the same period last year amounted to only P906.88 million. The 43.08% or
P390.67 million increase were due to the following:
a) acquisition of 78 million ORE shares thru the PSE, of which 63 million shares were sold
during the three quarters of 2012. As of September 30, 2012, a total of 15 million shares
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of ORE are still on hand with a recorded market value of P66.90 million and gain on sale
of P59.20 million; and
b) proceeds from sale and issuance of thirty three million (33,000,000) shares of the
Company at P9.46 per share by way of a private placement transaction on March 2,
2012 which is currently used to fund its Isabela operations.
c) Income earned from Isabela operations.
c.

Increase in Total Liabilities:

Total liabilities decreased by 64.26% or by P15.02 million as of September 30, 2012, mainly due
to partial settlements made by the Group of its obligations.
d.

Increase in Total Stockholders’ Equity:

Total stockholders’ equity amounted to P 1,289.20 million as of September 30, 2012, an increase
by 45.92% or by P405.69 million from P883.51 million in the same period last year. The increase
was due to the following:
a) unrealized gains on available-for-sale financial assets of P 59.07 million;
b) sale and issuance of thirty three million (33,000,000) shares of the Company at P9.46 per
share by way of a private placement transaction on March 2, 2012; and
c) net income earned during the period.

Key Performance Factors:
Net Income (loss)
Total Current Assets
Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity

Sept. 30, 2012

Sept. 30, 2011

P 47,584,472
913,760,227
1,297,551,962
8,352,203
8,352,203
1,289,199,759

P 23,981,753
479,979,721
906,884,348
23,371,221
23,371,221
883,513,127

Current Ratio
P 913,760,227 / 8,352,203
P 479,979,721 / 23,371,221

109.40:1

Debt to Equity Ratio
P 8,352,203 /1,289,199,759
P 23,371,221 / 883,513,127

0.006:1

Debt Ratio
P 8,352,203 /1,297,551,962
P 23,371,221 / 919,921,431

0.006:1

20.54:1

0.026:1

0.025:1

Income (loss) per share
P 47,584,472 / 913,000,000
P 23,981,753 / 880,000,000

P 0.052
P 0.027

Asset to Equity Ratio
P 1,297,551,962/1,289,199,759
P 906,884,348/ 883,513,127

1.006:1
1.026:1

Interest Coverage Ratio
No interest expense incurred

NA
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NA

Return on Asset
P 47,584,472 / 1,297,551,962
P 23,981,753 / 906,884,348

0.037
0.026

Gross Profit Margin
P 30,913,051/ 65,671,868

47.07%

NA

Net Profit Margin
P 4,429,082/ 65,671,868

6.74%

NA

Current Ratio:
The ratio is computed by dividing the current assets into the current liabilities.
The ratio measures the company’s ability to pay maturing obligations.
Debt to Equity Ratio:
This ratio is determined by dividing the total liabilities into the total stockholders equity.
The ratio measures the leverage on borrowed capital.
Debt Ratio:
This ratio is determined by dividing the total liabilities into the total assets.
The ratio indicates the percentage of a company’s assets that are provided via debt.
Income Per Share attributed to parent company:
Income per share is computed by dividing the net income attributed to the parent company by
weighted average number of common shares subscribed.
Asset to Equity Ratio:
This ratio is determined by dividing the total assets into the total stockholders’ equity.
The ratio measures the financial leverage and long term solvency of the Company.
Interest Coverage Ratio:
The interest coverage ratio is used to determine how easily a company can pay interest
expenses on outstanding debt. The ratio is calculated by dividing a company’s earnings
before interest and taxes (EBIT) by the company’s interest expenses for the same period
Return on Asset
This ratio is determined by dividing the net income by the total assets.
This ratio indicates how profitable a company’s assets are in generating revenue.
Gross Profit Margin:
The gross profit tells the percentage of revenue/sales left after subtracting the cost of goods
sold. The gross profit margin is computed by dividing Gross Profit over Net Service Income.
Net Profit Margin:
The net profit margin shows how much of each sales shows up as net income after all
expenses are paid. The Company calculated this by dividing the net income before other
income (expenses) by total service income.

Discussion and analysis of material events and uncertainties known to management that would
address the past and would have an impact on future operation of the following:
a. Any known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will result in or that
are reasonably likely to result in the registrant’s liquidity increasing or decreasing in any
material way.
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INVESTMENT IN SHARES OF STOCKS
100% Equity in OREGALORE, Inc. (“OREGALORE”)
On March 10, 2011, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of OREGALORE pursuant
to Deeds of Absolute Sale between the Company and the previous shareholders of OREGALORE.
The Company acquired the shares of OREGALORE at par value for a total consideration of
P
= 3,000,000. The Company also acquired the stockholder advances of OREGALORE amounting to
P125,478,304.62 for the discounted price of P105,000,000. In August 2012, these advances were
converted into equity equivalent to 1,250,000 common shares of OREGALORE.
OREGALORE is the owner of eighty percent (80%) of the outstanding capital stock of Masbate 13
Philippines, Inc. (“Masbate 13”), a corporation duly organized and existing under Philippine laws.
Masbate 13 is the owner of a gold mining claim denominated as Exploration permit No. V-2008005 located at the Municipalities of Milagros and Mandaon, Masbate with a total coverage area of
8,357.3509 hectares. The claim which was presented as part of the “Mining Asset” account
amounting to P152,136,833 was based on the valuation report as prepared by Engineer Graciano
Calanog.
30% Equity in Oriental Vision Mining Philippines, Inc.
On March 24, 2010, the Company acquired from various stockholders thirty percent (30%) equity
interest in the privately-held mining operator Oriental Vision Mining Philippines Corporation
(“ORVI”). NiHAO paid Three Million Pesos (P 3,000,000.00) as full payment of purchase of 3,000
shares of ORVI valued at its par of P 1,000 per share and a downpayment of Thirty Million Pesos
(P30,000,000.00) for the subscription of additional 60,000 shares from the current ORVI
shareholders for a purchase price of Sixty Million Pesos (P60,000,000.00). The balance of Thirty
Million Pesos (P 30,000,000.00) were paid in December 2010.
In addition, NiHAO agreed to extend shareholder advances in favor of ORVI for the purpose of
funding the existing mining projects of ORVI, which shareholder advances are payable either in
cash or in shares of stock. Out of the total P 150.50 million advances extended to ORVI for
working capital requirements, P95.00 million were collected, leaving a balance of P55.50 million
which were presented as advances to related parties.
Nickel Projects of ORVI:
The Palhi Nickel Project
2,314.2018 hectares
MPSA No. 242-2007-XIII
The Sangay Nickel Project
1,225.19 hectares
MPSA No. 240-200-XIII
100% ownership in various companies
On 09 January 2008, the Board of Directors authorized the acceptance of shareholder advances
from OYEZ!!! Corporation for the acquisition of Bountiful Geomines, Inc. (“Bountiful Geomines”)
and Visayas Ore Philippines, Inc. (“Visayas Ore”) and advances to the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, Mina Tierra Gracia, Inc. (“Mina Tierra”). The advances of the Company to Mina Tierra
were used by the latter to acquire its subsidiaries, namely, Minedomain, Inc. (“Minedomain”),
Companhia Nube Minerale, Inc. (“Nube Minerale”) and Companhia Minera Tierra, Inc. (“Minera
Tierra”).
On June 16, 2011, Mina Tierra has sold its ownership in Minera Tierra and Minedomain for a total
consideration of P5 million. On November 3, 2011, NiHAO sold its wholly-owned subsidiaries
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Visayas Ore and Mina Tierra, which sold another wholly-owned subsidiary Nube Minerale for P2.5
million each.
Investment in a Joint Venture
International AG (Glencore) executed a Heads of Agreement (“HOA”) in Hong Kong. Under the
HOA, the parties agreed to utilize their respective expertise in the mining industry for purposes of
investigating, identifying, acquiring, developing and operating mining claims of economically
feasible nickel deposits in the Philippines for purposes of direct shipping or selling of ore and
other related nickel mining business. Glencore shall contribute its expertise in marketing of nickel
ores in the world market as well as its network of various institutions internationally. On the other
hand, the Parent Company and Asiabest Group International, Inc. (“ABG”) formerly AGP Industrial
Corp. (“AGPI”) shall utilize their expertise in mining, contracting and developing mines in the
Philippines and their knowledge of relevant Philippine laws, rules and regulations and issues.
In order to accomplish the said purpose, the parties agreed to form within a period of two months
from the signing of the HOA, a joint venture company (“JVC”) under the laws of Hong Kong.
Pursuant to the Addendum to HOA dated October 28, 2011, the JVC will have an initial authorized
capital of HK$100,000 with a par value of HK$1/share. The JVC should have an initial issued and
paid-in capital of HK$10,000 to be contributed by the parties as follows: (1) 50% from Glencore;
and (2) 25% each for the Parent Company and ABG.
Moreover, the parties agreed to execute the following implementing agreements of the HOA:
 Marketing agreement whereby Glencore will act as the exclusive marketing agent for the JVC
and market and sell all material produced by the JVC;
 Management agreement;
 Contractor(s) agreement; and,
 Any other agreements agreed by the parties as being necessary or useful to facilitate the
implementation and operation of the JVC.
The JVC under the name of GNA Resources International Limited (“GNA”) was incorporated in
Hong Kong on November 23, 2011. The Company’s contribution of P
= 13,946 to the JVC was
advanced by a related party. As of September 30, 2012, JVC has not started its main business
operation due to recent changes in mining regulations.
MINING CLAIMS AND PERMITS

The operations of the Company’s subsidiaries are primarily conducted in the Mining Claims and
Small-Scale Mining Claims.
The following table sets forth certain information related to the Company’s Mining Claims and
their corresponding permits or permit applications as of September 30, 2012.

Permittee/
Applicant

Location

Name of Claim

Permit Description

Zambales
Botolan and Iba

Botolan Mining Claim

MPSA No. 315-2010III

Mina Tierra
Gracia, inc.

5,081.6408

Manticao Mining
Claim

EPA-000093-X

Bountiful
Geomines

1,944.0000

Masbate 13 Mining
Claim

EP-V2008-5

Masbate 13

8,375.3509

Misamis Oriental
Opol, Manticao

Masbate
Milagros and
Mandaon

Validity

Area
Covered
(in
hectares)

15,400.9917
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On February 10, 2010, the MGB has approved the MPSA application of Mina Tierra Gracia, Inc. and issued MPSA no.
315-2010-III in the name of Mina Tierra Gracia, Inc, covering the Botolan Mining Claim.

VARIOUS AGREEMENTS:
1. Marketing Agency Agreement with Glencore
On March 12, 2012, the Parent Company and Glencore executed a Marketing Agency Agreement
in which the Parent Company appointed Glencore as its marketing agent for the purpose of
providing marketing and sales agency services relating to the sale of nickel produced by the
Group. The Parent Company and Glencore agreed that the sale of nickel under the agreement
shall be under the brand name of GNA.
Under the agreement, Glencore is given the authority to market and sell nickel, or entered into a
sales contract, in behalf of the Parent Company. For the consideration of the services of
Glencore, the Parent Company shall pay a commission at the rate of US$0.25 per wet metric
tonne of the sales value of any nickel sold.
The term is valid for 1 year, unless terminated earlier, in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the agreement.
2. Operating Agreement with Geogen Corporation / General Contractor Agreement with
Geogen Corporation (“Geogen”)
On March 5, 2012, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the execution,
delivery and performance of a General Contractor Agreement with Geogen. Under the
agreement, the Parent Company is appointed as Geogen’s general contractor over Geogen’s
mineral property consisting of a total area of 2,391.4081 hectares located at Dinapigue, Isabela,
which is covered by MPSA No. 258-2007-II dated July 30, 2007 (the “Mineral Property”).
Pursuant to the agreement, Geogen shall pay the Parent Company an amount equivalent to 90%
of the invoice value of the nickel ore sold by Geogen to third parties in consideration of the
following contractor services to be performed by the Parent Company:
(a) Mining services relating to or arising from mining activities within the Mineral Property;
(b) Hauling services for the nickel ore extracted from the Mineral Property to designated areas;
(c) Barging and stevedoring services for the shipside loading of the nickel ore extracted from the
Mineral Property;
(d) Road and causeway maintenance services; and
(e) Environmental maintenance services of the Mineral Property.
On June 13, 2012, the agreement discussed above was superseded by an operating agreement.
Pursuant to the operating agreement, NiHAO shall have the exclusive right to explore, operate,
mine, develop, utilize and process any minerals found within the Contract Area of the Mineral
Property, subject to the following limitations:
(a) NiHAO shall abide by all the terms and conditions of relevant licenses and permits
covering the contract Area or relating to the conduct of mining operations therein;
(b) NiHAO shall abide by and comply with all of its obligations and undertakings under the
Operating Agreement, and;
(c) NiHAO may build improvements and install machineries and equipment and other
facilities, and do such other things in the Contract Area as may be necessary and proper
to carry out exploration, mining development works and operations, utilization,
processing, environmental protection and rehabilitation of the Contract Area.
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Pursuant to the operating agreement, Geogen shall pay the Parent Company an amount
equivalent to 90% of the invoice value of the nickel ore, nickel by-products, chromite and other
minerals sold by Geogen to third parties. NiHAO will pay for its own account, Asiabest Group
International, Inc. (“ABG”) management fees pursuant to Management Agreement with Option to
Buy executed between GEOGEN and ABG on 14 October 2011.
This operating agreement was the source of operation revenues for the Company this current
quarter.

3. Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) by and among the Parent Company, Capital Gold
Pty Ltd. (“Capital Gold”) and Capital Resources Corporation (“Capital Resources”)
On January 10, 2012, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the execution, delivery and
performance of a MOU by and among the Parent Company, Capital Gold and Capital Resources
for the acquisition of Capital Gold and Capital Resources of the shares of stocks of either of the
following:
(a) OI, a wholly owned subsidiary;
(b) MPI, a subsidiary through OI; or
(c) A new company incorporated under the laws of the Philippines (a, b and c, collectively
referred to as the “Parent Company target”)
Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, which include, among others, the completion by
the parties of the legal and technical due diligence, the parties have agreed to the following:
(a) The identity of the Parent Company target will be confirmed by Capital Gold after carrying out
the legal and technical due diligence;
(b) Capital Resources shall be listed and its entire issued share capital admitted to trading on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange (“FSE”) and the Parent Company target together with the other
assets of Capital Gold located in Australia shall be infused into Capital Resources;
(c) Capital Resources shall acquire 40% of the entire issued and outstanding shares of stock of
the Parent Company target (the “Parent Company target shares”), or an equivalent
proportionate interest (in case the shares of OI was acquired) for the consideration of
50,000,000 shares in Capital Resources (the “Subscription”) at current listing value of EURO
(EUR) 0.10 per share and US$250,000.
(d) Upon the acquisition of the Parent Company target:
a. Capital Resources shall be granted, through a shareholders’ agreement, 1 seat to
the BOD of the Parent Company;
b. The Parent Company shall grant Capital Resources the option to acquire additional
35% interest on the Parent Company target or an equivalent proportionate share,
through a separate block of shares, for the consideration of US$500,000 and earnedin exploration expenditure of US$3,000,000 on the Parent Company target. The
option is exercisable within 3 years after the acquisition; and
(e) The Parent Company shall enter into a lock-in arrangement with Capital Resources with
regards to the Subscription for a period of 12 months from the date the shares of Capital
Resources are admitted for trading on the FSE.
On September 18, 2012, the Board of Directors approved the execution, delivery and
performance of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) by and among NiHAO, Capital Gold Pty Ltd
and Welcome Stranger Mining Ltd for the acquisition by Capital Gold and Welcome Stranger from
NiHAO of 40% of the issued share of capital of Masbate 13 Philippines, Inc., a subsidiary of
NiHAO’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Oregalore, Inc.
This MOA supersedes the MOU dated
January 10, 2012.
Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, the Parties to the MOA have agreed that:
(a) Welcome Stranger shall acquire forty percent (40%) of the entire issued and outstanding
share capital of Masbate 13 in consideration for which NiHAO/Oregalore shall receive fifty
million (50,000,000) shares in Welcome Stranger at an indicative listing market value of
twenty Australian cents (AUG 0.20/share) per share.
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(b) Welcome Stranger will pay to NiHAO/Oregalore a cash consideration of two hundred fifty
thousand US dollars (US$250,000); and
(c) Welcome Stranger shall have the option to buy an additional forty percent (40%) of the entire
issued and outstanding share capital of Masbate 13 upon terms and conditions acceptable to
NiHAO.

4. Heads of Agrement with Glencore International AG and Asiabest Group International,
Inc. (ABG) formerly AGP Industrial Corporation (AGP)
On 27 September 2011, the Company, Glencore International AG and Asiabest Group
International, Inc. formerly AGP Industrial Corporation executed a Heads of Agreement (HOA) in
Hong Kong. Under the HOA, Glencore shall contribute its expertise in marketing of nickel ores in
the world market as well as its network of various institutions internationally. On the other hand,
NIHAO and ABG shall utilize their expertise in mining, contracting and developing of mines in the
Philippines and their knowledge of relevant Philippine laws, rules and regulations and issues.
In order to accomplish the said purpose, the parties agreed to form, within a period of 2 months
from the signing of agreement, a Joint Venture Corporation (“JVC”) under the laws of Hong Kong.
The JVC shall have an initial capitalization of USD2 million with the Glencore contributing USD1
million and NiHAO and ABG each contributing USD500 thousand. The JVC shall be governed by
the laws of Hong Kong while the proprietary rights of the JVC over its prospective mining interests
and operations in the Philippines shall be governed by Philippines or Hong Kong laws and
regulations, whichever is applicable. After the formation of the JVC, the parties shall identify
prospective mining assets in the Philippines. The JVC may also venture into mining projects in
Indonesia and other Asian countries. In such case, the parties may create a new joint venture
entity with the same terms and conditions as the HOA.
The parties agree to execute any and all contracts/agreements that will give effect to their
undertaking in the HOA or which may be necessary to facilitate the implementation and operation
of the JVC. Among such agreements is the Marketing Agreement whereby Glencore shall act as
the exclusive marketing agent for the JVC for the sale of all materials produced by the JVC.

STOCK RIGHTS OFFERING AND PRIVATE PLACEMENTS
On January 14, 2009, the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. approved the application of the
Company to list up to 500,000,000 common shares to cover its 5:1 Stock Rights Offering (“the
Offer”) at an offer price of P1.00 per share to existing qualified shareholders of record as of
October 9, 2009.
The offer was conducted between November 23-27, 2009, and the Company raised a total of
P500,000,000.00 in gross proceeds. The Offer Shares were listed in the PSE on December 15,
2009.
On December 29, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with one of its stockholders to
subscribe a portion of the Company’s authorized but unissued capital stock by way of a private
placement transaction. The stockholder has agreed to subscribe to 80 million shares at a
subscription price of P1.35 per share for a total consideration of P108 million. The share
issuance resulted to an increase in additional paid-in capital (APIC) amounting to P28 million.
The proceeds from the said private placement transaction were used to acquire 100% equity
holdings in OREGALORE. On the same date, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the
issuance of additional shares of stocks through a 2:5 Stock Rights Offering. This is to provide
other stockholders with the same opportunity to subscribe to new shares of the Company.
On August 16, 2011, the Company entered into a second subscription agreement with the same
stockholder covering 100 million shares at a subscription price of P2.00 per share or for a total
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consideration of P200 million. The proceeds from this private placement transaction were initially
used to acquire listed shares of ORE thru the PSE.
On September 21, 2011, the Company has entered into its third subscription agreement with the
same stockholder covering 100 million shares at a subscription price of P2.25 per share for a total
subscription price of P225 million. The proceeds were initially earmarked for acquisition of
additional ORE shares and purchase of mining equipment.

Agreement by and among Macquarie Bank Limited (“Macquarie Bank”), Parent Company
and one of its Major Shareholders
The BOD of the Parent Company approved the execution, delivery and performance of an
Investment Agreement (the “Agreement”) by and among Macquarie Bank, the Parent Company
and one of its major shareholder, embodying a Multi-tranche Average Price Issuance Program
(“Issuance Program”) resulting in Macquarie Bank’s subscription to newly-issued common shares
of stock in the Parent Company (the “NiHAO Shares”) on a private placement basis
(“Transaction”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, Macquaire Bank agreed to subscribe to the Parent Company’s
shares of up to an aggregate amount of 150,000,000, which shall be purchased in tranches, from
the Parent Company’s authorized but unissued capital stock, provided that, prior to the Parent
Company’s obtaining the approvable of its shareholders to the Transaction, Macquarie Bank
shall not make any subscription that will result in Macquarie Bank’s total shareholdings in the
Parent Company exceeding 95,000,000 shares, which number is just below ten percent (10%) of
the resulting issued capital stock of the Company. The Parent Company will raise approximately
United States Dollar (US$) 25,000,000 to US$30,000,000 from the issuance of the shares.
Macquarie Bank’s right to subscribe to the Subscriber Shares shall expire (1) year from the
execution of the Agreement, or upon Macquarie Bank having subscribed to and been issued
150,000,000 Subscriber Shares, whichever event occurs earlier.
In relation to the Agreement, on March 2, 2012, the Parent Company and Macquarie Bank
executed a Subscription Agreement covering the Macquarie Bank’s subscription of the
33,000,000 common shares with a par value of P
= 1.00 per share for a subscription price of P
= 9.46
per share for a total consideration of P
= 312.2 million. The subscription will result to an increase in
the additional paid-in capital of P
= 279.2 million.

MANAGEMENT PLAN OF OPERATIONS
Plan of Operations
The Company shall use the balance of the net proceeds from the Offer to maintain its Botolan
and Manticao Mining Claims, the former which has already been awarded a MPSA, and the
Manticao Mining Claim, which will have to be perfected into an Exploration permit before any
work can be done on the property. Management is also keen on the acquisition of other
prospective mining claims that it can develop for production in partnership with select foreign
and local partners.
Balance of the proceeds of private placements in 2011 were initially used to purchase additional
publicly listed shares from the PSE open market and for acquisition of mining equipment. These
were only interim transactions of the Company while waiting for a better investment opportunity.
To date, significant portion of the purchased shares were liquidated thru the PSE with gains.
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The Company has reported net gain from sale of ORE shares of P 59.20 million contributing
positively to the cash flows of the Company to be devoted to operation and expansion.
Proceeds from private placements made by Macquarie in March 2012 are currently being used
to fund expenses relative to the Operating Services of the Company to Geogen Corporation.

Isabela Operations
The Isabela Nickel Project commenced full commercial operations this year and was able to
ship Nickel Ore to China this year. The company has organically grown its operating capability
and reduced its reliance on contractors, and the company plans to increase the heavy
equipment complement to further augment production and shipping capacity. The Isabela
Nickel Project will be one of the main revenue drivers from operations and contribute recurring
income and strong cash flow, eventually improving shareholder value. The company is
currently studying plans for development of an improved loading facility and its location to
further reduce hauling and transport costs of ore from the mine

Botolan Mining Claim
The Company is continuously implementing its Community Development Program (CDP) for its
MPSA located in Botolan and Iba, Zambales to create a symbiotic relationship between the
Company and the community. As nickel prices continue to improve, the Company may
implement additional exploration on the property to determine the additional commercial viability
of developing the Botolan Mining Claim as a Direct Shipping Ore (DSO) nickel mine. The
Company believes that its investment in the implementation of a CDP will be easier for the
transition of the Botolan Mining Claim from exploration into development and full scale
operation. Plans for development of a loading facility as well as the options to its possible
location are being studied to minimize hauling and transport costs of ore from the mine.

Manticao Mining Claim
NiHAO’s subsidiary, Bountiful Geomines, Inc. has an Exploration Permit Application (“EPAs”) in
Manticao. NiHAO will evaluate their respective mineral potentials through its technical team
and/or third party geological services companies as soon as the approval of its Exploration
Permit has been issued.
After awarding of the Exploration Permit (“EP”), NiHAO shall implement exploration works
according to the approved Exploration Work Program and Environmental Work Program
attached to the EP.
In this interim period:
a) There is no known trend, event or uncertainty that has or is reasonably likely to have a
negative impact on the Company’s short-term or long-term liquidity. The Company is not in
default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing arrangement
requiring the Company to make payments.
b) The liquidity of the Company is expected to be generated from the Company’s financial
resources as well as from the proceeds of equity private placements and offerings.
c) There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to
the Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation.
d) There are no material commitments for capital expenditures except for those provided in the
“Use of Proceeds” from the 5:1 Stock Rights Offering and private placements conducted by
the Parent Company.

13

NIHAO MINERAL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORM 17-Q, Item 1

Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Nine Month Period Ending
September 30, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Nine Month Period Ending September 30, 2012
and 2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

15

NIHAO MINERAL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL , INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Unaudited
Consolidated
Sept. 30, 2012

Audited
Consolidated
Dec 31, 2011

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable - net (Note 6)
Advances to related parties (note 16)
Inventory
Other current assets

P

Asset held for sale (Note 7)
Total Current Assets

Noncurret Assets
Available For Sale Financial Assets (Note 8)
Investment in Associates (Note 9)
Investment in Joint Venture (Note 10)
Mining Rights (Note 12)
Property and Equipment - net (Notes 13)
Other non-current assets
Total Noncurrent Assets

662,520,022 P
175,435,088
55,626,168
2,476,205
14,660,076
910,717,560
3,042,667

304,155,480
459,219
55,580,160
5,996,022
366,190,881
3,042,667

913,760,227

369,233,548

66,900,892
51,237,788
13,946
201,633,419
63,509,702
495,989
383,791,735

271,320,000
74,942,989
13,946
201,633,419
2,497,415
280,114
550,687,883

P

1,297,551,962 P

919,921,431

P

5,500,419 P
2,851,784

5,096,253
2,851,784

8,352,203

7,948,037

913,000,000
532,451,465

880,000,000
253,271,465

(9,782,962)

(27,244,854)

(175,158,913)
1,260,509,590
28,690,169

(223,257,742)
882,768,869
29,204,525

1,289,199,759

911,973,394

1,297,551,962 P

919,921,431

LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (Note 14)
Due to related parties
Total Liabilities
Stocholder's Equity
Capital Stock - P1 par value (Note 15)
Authorized - 2,000,000,000 shares
Issued
Additional Paid-In Capital
Cumulative unrealized gains (Losses) on available-for-sale
financial assets
Deficit
Equity attributable to non-controlling interest
Total Stockholders' Equity
P

NIHAO MINERAL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Unaudited)
July 1 to
Sept 30, 2012
(Three Months)
SERVICE INCOME
COST OF SERVICE
GROSS PROFIT (LOSS)

P

25,960,681

Jan 1 to
Sept. 30, 2012
(Nine Months)

July 1 to
Sept 30, 2011
(Three Months)
P

P

Jan 1 to
Sept 30, 2011
(Nine Months)

65,671,868

(25,591,211)

(34,758,817)

369,471

30,913,051

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

(11,947,252)

(3,445,959)

(26,483,969)

(8,146,570)

NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE OTHER INCOME (LOSS)

(11,577,781)

(3,445,959)

4,429,082

(8,146,570)

4,160,888
(22,346,530)

1,011,843
6,866,791

8,277,685
(23,705,202)

30,204,940
12,019,298

7,878,634

59,201,167
43,773,651

3,346,308
6,993,641
20,478,305
(3,297,594)
5,017,229

441,517

4,432,675

48,202,733

24,391,319

(618,261)

(409,566)

OTHER INCOME ( EXPENSES)
Interest Income
Share in net income ( loss) of an associate
Gain on transfer of receivable
Loss on acquisition of a subsidiary
Gain on sale of a subsidiary
Gain on sale of AFS
Sub-total
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
TAX DUE

(7,389)

32,537,889

434,127

4,432,675

47,584,472

23,981,753

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Income (loss) on change in fair value of availablefor-sale financial assets

(63,791,059)

(68,857,064)

17,461,892

(68,857,064)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(63,356,931)

(64,424,389)

65,046,364

(44,875,311)

477,604
(43,476)
434,127

4,449,518
(16,843)
4,432,675

48,098,829
(514,357)
47,584,472

24,070,684
(88,931)
23,981,753

(63,313,455)
(43,476)
(63,356,931)

(64,407,546)
(16,843)
(64,424,389)

65,560,721
(514,357)
65,046,364

(44,786,380)
(88,931)
(44,875,311)

913,000,000
0.00
(0.07)

880,000,000
0.005
(0.073)

913,000,000
0.05
0.07

880,000,000
0.027
(0.051)

INCOME (LOSS) AFTER TAX

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling Interest
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling Interest
WEIGHTED AVE. NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES
Based on net income (loss)
Based on total comprehensive income
Note: No dividends declared during the period

NIHAO MINERAL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Unaudited
Sept. 30, 2012
CAPITAL STOCK - P 1 par value
Authorized no. of shares
Issued in shares
Issued
Additional Paid - in Capital

2,000,000,000
913,000,000
P

DEFICIT
Balance at beginning of period
Net Income (loss)
Balance at end of period
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
CUMULATIVE UNREALIZED GAIN
(LOSES) ON AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY, END

Audited
December 31, 2011

P

913,000,000
532,451,465
1,445,451,465

Unaudited
Sept. 30, 2011

2,000,000,000
680,000,000
P
P

880,000,000
253,271,465
1,133,271,465

2,000,000,000
880,000,000
P
P

880,000,000
253,271,465
1,133,271,465

(223,257,742)
48,098,829
(175,158,913)

(234,713,817)
11,456,075
(223,257,742)

(234,713,817)
24,070,684
(210,643,133)

28,690,169

29,204,525

29,741,859

(9,782,962)

(27,244,854)

(68,857,064)

1,289,199,759

P

911,973,394

Audited
December 31, 2010

P

883,513,127

2,000,000,000
600,000,000
P
P

680,000,000
28,271,465
708,271,465
(244,240,289)
9,526,472
(234,713,817)

P

473,557,648

NIHAO MINERAL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income (loss) before income tax
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities
Interest Income
Loss on acquisition of subsidiary
Gain on sale of subsidiary
Gain on transfer of receivable
Depreciation
Share in net (income) loss of a subsidiary
Operating income before changes in working capital
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease (increase) in :
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Due from related parties
Other current assets
Other non-current assets
Increase (decrease) in :
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other Liabilties
Cash generated from operations
Income Tax
Interest Income
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Disposals (acquisitions) of property and equipment
Disposal (Acquisition) of an afiliate
Disposal (Acquisition) of Available-for-sale financial asset
Acquisition of mining right
Acquisition of equity in mining company
Minority interest in newly acquired subsidiary
Net cash used in investing activities

July 1 to
Sept 30, 2012
(Three Months)
P

P

P

48,202,733

P

26,979,647

(8,277,682)

1,336,443
22,346,530
19,963,602

83,067 1
(6,866,791)
(3,362,892)

1,713,293
23,705,202
65,343,547

(38,546,092)
(2,476,205)

(873,412) 2

(175,329,017)
(2,476,205)
(46,008)
(9,282,315)
(215,875)

10,245,174

404,166

18,648,745

(8,524,007)

34,998,890
(231,859)

(1,909,885)

16,826,837

(3,346,308)
3,297,594
(7,605,557)
(20,478,305)
267,092
(6,993,641)
(7,879,478)

41,970,058
(2,977,315)
1,263,848

(31,492,587)
4,187,290
(27,305,297)

47,357,564
1,011,843 2
48,369,407

(121,601,707)
8,630,829
(112,970,878)

61,271,032
(409,566)
3,346,308
64,207,774

(62,571,931)

1

(62,725,580)

(13,214)
4,307,963

221,881,000
-

(220,657,064)
(16,843)
(220,673,907)

159,155,419

(152,136,833)
(220,657,064)
29,830,791
(338,668,357)

425,000,000

312,180,000

425,000,000

425,000,000

312,180,000

425,000,000

(199,518)

252,695,500

358,364,541

150,539,417

662,719,540

98,407,421

304,155,480

200,563,504

-

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF PERIOD

P

(1,011,843) 2

27,105,779

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

4,432,675

Jan 1 to
Sept 30, 2011
(Nine Months)

(4,160,888)

89,677,710

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock
Long-term borrowings
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF PERIOD

441,517

Jan 1 to
Sept. 30, 2012
(Nine Months)

July 1 to
Sept 30, 2011
(Three Months)

662,520,022

P

351,102,921

P

662,520,022

P

351,102,921

NiHAO MINERAL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Corporate Information and Status of Operations.
Corporate Information
NiHAO Mineral Resources International, Inc., (NiHAO or the Parent Company) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the Group) were incorporated in the Philippines.
The Parent Company was incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 9, 1975, as a mining company under the name Summit
Minerals, Inc. On October 3, 1990, the Parent Company’s shares were offered to the public and
listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). On December 10, 1993, the Parent Company
changed its primary purpose to that of a holding company. Subsequently, on February 24, 1994,
the Parent Company changed its corporate name to Magnum Holdings, Inc. However, on June
28, 2007, the Parent Company has decided to change its corporate name again to NiHAO Mineral
Resources International, Inc. and its primary purpose to that of a mining company. As a mining
company, its primary purpose is to carry on the business of mining, milling, concentrating,
converting, smelting, preparing for market, manufacturing, buying, selling, exchanging, and
otherwise producing and dealing in nickel, chromite, and other kinds of ores, metal, minerals and
by-products.
The following are the subsidiaries and associate of the Parent Company:

Company
Subsidiaries:
Mina Tierra Gracia, Inc. (MTGI)
Bountiful Geomines, Inc. (BGI)
Oregalore, Inc. (OI)
Masbate13 Philippines, Inc.
(Masbate13)
Associate:
Oriental Vision Mining Philippines
Corporation (ORVI)

Ownership

Percentage of Ownership
Dec. 31,
September
2011
30, 2012

Direct
Direct
Direct

100
100
100

100
100
100

Indirect

80

80

30

30

The subsidiaries and associate are all incorporated in the Philippines and are involved in mining
activities.
Status of Operations
Beginning second quarter of 2012, NiHAO commenced its large scale commercial mining
operations of which to date generating service income of P 65.67 million, cost of sales of P 34.76
million resulting to a gross profit of P30.91 million. In June 2012, NiHAO’s general contractor
agreement with Geogen Corporation was converted into an Operating Agreement over the
Dinapigue Nickel Project located in Dinapigue, Isabela covering 2,314.2018 hectares. Said
project has an approved Mineral Purchase and Sharing Agreement (MPSA) and it is already in the
development and operating stage. Since NiHAO became the Operator of the Dinapigue Nickel
Project, it has rehabilitated roads and other mine infrastructure and complied with all the
necessary government requirements in preparation for nickel mining operations. In addition to the
preparation for mining operations, exploration activities are also being conducted.
NiHAO Mineral Resources International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
September 30, 2012 Amended Quarterly Report
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

As of September 30, 2012, the Company recognized a consolidated net income of P47.58 million,
98.42% or P 23.60 million higher as compared to the recorded income covering the same period
last year of P23.98 million. The increase was brought about by operating income from its
operating agreement with Geogen Corporation. Other comprehensive income is recorded at
P17.46 million, representing increase in market value of its shareholdings in Oriental Peninsula
Resources Group, Inc. (“ORE”) from September 30, 2011 closing price of P3.30 per share to
P4.46 per share as of the end of September 2012.
Glencore International AG (Glencore) executed a Heads of Agreement (HOA) in Hong Kong.
Under the HOA, the parties agreed to utilize their respective expertise in the mining industry for
purposes of investigating, identifying, acquiring, developing and operating mining claims of
economically feasible nickel deposits in the Philippines for purposes of direct shipping or selling
of ore and other related nickel mining business. Glencore shall contribute its expertise in
marketing of nickel ores in the world market as well as its network of various institutions
internationally. On the other hand, the Parent Company and Asiabest Group International, Inc.
(ABG) formerly AGP Industrial Corp. (AGPI) shall utilize their expertise in mining, contracting
and developing mines in the Philippines and their knowledge of relevant Philippine laws, rules
and regulations and issues.
In order to accomplish the said purpose, the parties agreed to form within a period of two months
from the signing of the HOA, a joint venture company (JVC) under the laws of Hong Kong.
Pursuant to the Addendum to HOA dated October 28, 2011, the JVC will have an initial
authorized capital of HK$100,000 with a par value of HK$1/share. The JVC should have an
initial issued and paid-in capital of HK$10,000 to be contributed by the parties as follows: (1)
50% from Glencore; and (2) 25% each for the Parent Company and ABG.
Moreover, the parties agree to execute the following implementing agreements of the HOA:
 Marketing agreement whereby Glencore will act as the exclusive marketing agent for the JVC
and market and sell all material produced by the JVC;
 Management agreement;
 Contractor(s) agreement; and,
 Any other agreements agreed by the parties as being necessary or useful to facilitate the
implementation and operation of the JVC.
The JVC under the name of GNA Resources International Limited (GNA) was incorporated in
Hong Kong on November 23, 2011. The Company’s contribution of P
=13,946 to the JVC was
advanced by a related party. As of September 30, 2012, JVC has not started its main business
operation.
As of September 30, 2012, the Group has three (3) mining claims located in the provinces of
Zambales, Misamis Oriental, and Masbate.
The following are the Group’s mining claims:
a. Botolan Mining Claim
Botolan Mining Claim is registered under the name of MTGI. This mining claim covers
approximately 5,081 hectares located in the town of Botolan, Zambales. On February 10,
2010, MTGI’s application for Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA) with Mines
and Geosciences Bureau (MGB) on the Botolan Mining Claim was approved. With the
MPSA, MTGI projects that it will produce and ship up to 450,000 dry metric tons (DMT) of
nickel ore at a grade of 1.6% nickel grade.
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In 2011, MTGI started focusing on the implementation of Community Development Program
(CDP). This CDP intends to establish a symbiotic relationship between MTGI and the
community. Establishing this foundation will allow the community to be informed of the
plans and programs of MTGI thereby enabling MTGI to implement its exploration and
mining activities in coordination with the corresponding stakeholders. The implementation of
the CDP and the subsequent exploration and development works, as stipulated in the MTGI’s
work program will cover a period of at least two years. The Group is looking for partners to
help develop its mining claim and to increase the production.
b. Manticao Mining Claim
BGI has an Exploration Permit (EP) application with the MGB covering the Manticao Mining
Claim with an area of 1,944 hectares located in Manticao, Misamis Oriental. In connection
with the aforementioned EP application, BGI submitted all mandatory requirements provided
under the Philippine Mining Act and its Implementing Rules and Regulations, including, an
exploration work program as well as proof of technical and financial competence. As of
September 30, 2012, the EP application is undergoing initial evaluation by the MGB.
Planned budget for the additional study and exploration amounted to P
=30.0 million. The EP
application is expected to be approved in 2012.
c. Masbate Mining Claim
Masbate13 has an EP covering Masbate Mining Claim with an area of approximately 8,357
hectares located in Milagros and Mandaon, Masbate. As of September 30, 2012, management
is still evaluating the mineral potential of the area through its technical team and third party
geological service companies. The Group plans to perform more extensive studies on the
claim to attract possible joint venture partners for the development of the area.
2. Basis of Preparation and Consolidation and Statement of Compliance
Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for the available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets that have been measured at fair value. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso (Peso). Amounts are rounded
off to the nearest Peso unit, except when otherwise indicated.
Statement of Compliance
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the Philippines as set forth in Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS). PFRS includes statements named PFRS, Philippine Accounting
Standards (PAS), and Standard Interpretation Committee/International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which have been approved by the Financial Reporting
Standards Council and adopted by SEC, including SEC pronouncements.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company
and its subsidiaries as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in
full.
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3. Summary of Significant Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
Changes in Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except
for the following new, revised and amended PFRS, PAS and Philippine Interpretations effective
as of January 1, 2011.






PAS 24 (Amended), Related Party Disclosures effective January 1, 2011
PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment) - Classification of Rights Issues
effective February 1, 2010
Philippine Interpretation based on IFRIC 14 (Amendment), Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement effective
January 1, 2011
Philippine Interpretation IFRC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments effective July 1, 2010
Improvements to PFRS (issued in 2010):
•
•
•
•
•
•

Revised PFRS 3, Business Combinations effective for annual periods beginning on or
after July 1, 2010
PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2011
PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2011
PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2011
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011

The adoption of these standards or interpretations is described below:
PAS 24, Related Party Transactions (Amendment)
PAS 24 clarifies the definitions of a related party. The new definitions emphasize a symmetrical
view of related party relationships and clarify the circumstances in which persons and key
management personnel affect related party relationships of an entity. In addition, the amendment
introduces an exemption from the general related party disclosure requirements for transactions
with government and entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the same government as the reporting entity. The adoption of the amendment did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment)
The amendment alters the definition of a financial liability in PAS 32 to enable entities to classify
rights issues and certain options or warrants as equity instruments. The amendment is applicable
if the rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s nonderivative equity instruments, to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for
a fixed amount in any currency. The amendment has no effect on the financial position or
performance of the Group because it does not have these types of instruments.
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14, Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
(Amendment)
The amendment removes an unintended consequence when an entity is subject to minimum
funding requirements and makes an early payment of contributions to cover such requirements.
The amendment permits a prepayment of future service cost by the entity to be recognized as a
pension asset. The Group is not subject to minimum funding requirements in the Philippines;
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therefore, the amendment of the interpretation has no effect on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
Improvements to PFRSs (issued 2010)
Improvements to PFRSs, an omnibus of amendments to standards, deal primarily with a view to
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for
each standard. The adoption of the following amendments did not have any impact on the
accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group:
 PFRS 7, Financial Instruments - Disclosures
 PFRS 3, Business Combinations (Measurement options available for non-controlling interest)
 PFRS 3, Business Combinations (Contingent consideration arising from business combination
prior to adoption of PFRS 3 (as revised in 2008))
 PFRS 3, Business Combinations (Un-replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based payment
awards)
 PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (Presentation of analysis of each component of
other comprehensive income)
 PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
 PAS 34, Interim Financial Statements
The following interpretation and amendments to interpretations did not have any impact on the
accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group:



Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programs (Determining the fair value
of award credits)
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments

Standards Issued but not yet Effective
The Group will adopt the new, revised and amended PFRS, PAS and Philippine Interpretations
enumerated below, as applicable, when these become effective. The Group does not expect the
adoption of these PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its financial
statements in the period of initial application unless stated otherwise.


PAS 1, Financial Statement Presentation - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive
Income. The amendments to PAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in other
comprehensive income. Items that could be reclassified (or ‘recycled’) to profit or loss at a
future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or settlement) would be presented
separately from items that will never be reclassified. The amendment affects presentation
only and therefore, has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. The
amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.



PAS 12, Income Taxes (Amendment) - Deferred tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets.
The amendment clarified the determination of deferred tax on investment property measured
at fair value. The amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on
investment property measured using the fair value model in PAS 40 should be determined on
the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale. Furthermore, it introduces
the requirement that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets that are measured using the
revaluation model in PAS 16 always be measured on a sale basis of the asset. The
amendment will have no impact on the financial statements of the Group since it has no
investment property. The amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2012.



PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans. Amendments to PAS 19 range from
fundamental changes such as removing the corridor mechanism and the concept of expected
returns on plan assets to simple clarifications and re-wording. The amendment will have no
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impact on the financial statements of the Group. The amendment becomes effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.


PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011). As a consequence of the new
PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities, what remains of PAS 27 is limited to accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities, and associates in separate financial statements. The amendment becomes effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.



PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011). As a consequence
of the new PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements and PFRS 12, PAS 28 has been renamed PAS 28,
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the equity
method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The amendment becomes
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.



PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure
Requirements. The amendment requires additional disclosure about financial assets that have
been transferred but not derecognized to enable the user of the Group’s financial statements to
understand the relationship with those assets that have not been derecognized and their
associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires disclosures about continuing
involvement in derecognized assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and risks
associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement in those derecognized assets. The
amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011.



PFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights of set-off
and related arrangements (such as collateral agreements). The new disclosures are required
for all recognized financial instruments that are set off in accordance with PAS 32. These
disclosures also apply to recognized financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or ‘similar agreement’, irrespective of whether they are set-off in
accordance with PAS 32. The amendments require entities to disclose, in a tabular format
unless another format is more appropriate, the following minimum quantitative information.
This is presented separately for financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at the end
of the reporting period:
a) The gross amounts of those recognized financial assets and recognized financial
liabilities;
b) The amounts that are set off in accordance with the criteria in PAS 32 when determining
the net amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
c) The net amounts presented in the statement of financial position;
d) The amounts subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement
that are not otherwise included in (b) above, including:
i. Amounts related to recognized financial instruments that do not meet some or all
of the offsetting criteria in PAS 32; and
ii. Amounts related to financial collateral (including cash collateral); and
e) The net amount after deducting the amounts in (d) from the amounts in (c) above.
The amendments to PFRS 7 are to be retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2013. The amendment affects disclosures only and has no impact on the
Group’s financial position or performance.



PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements. PFRS 10 replaces the portion of PAS 27,
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, that addresses the accounting for
consolidated financial statements. It also includes the issues raised in Standing Interpretations
Committee (SIC)-12, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. PFRS 10 establishes a single
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control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes
introduced by PFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgment to
determine which entities are controlled, and therefore, are required to be consolidated by a
parent, compared with the requirements that were in PAS 27. This standard becomes
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.


PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. PFRS 11 replaces PAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures and
SIC-13, Jointly-controlled Entities - Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. PFRS 11
removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate
consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of a joint venture must be accounted for
using the equity method. This standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2013.



PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. PFRS 12 includes all of the disclosures
that were previously in PAS 27 related to consolidated financial statements, as well as all of
the disclosures that were previously included in PAS 31 and PAS 28. These disclosures relate
to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities.
A number of new disclosures are also required. This standard becomes effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.



PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. PFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under
PFRS for all fair value measurements. PFRS 13 does not change when an entity is required to
use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under PFRS when
fair value is required or permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact that this
standard will have on the financial position and performance. This standard becomes
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.



PFRS 9, Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement. PFRS 9 as issued reflects
the first phase on the replacement of PAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in PAS 39. The standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. In subsequent phases, hedge
accounting and impairment of financial assets will be addressed with the completion of this
project expected on the first half of 2012. The Group is currently assessing the impact that
this standard will have on the financial position and performance. The Group will quantify the
effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture.



PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
liabilities. These amendments to PAS 32 clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally
enforceable right to set-off” and also clarify the application of the PAS 32 offsetting criteria
to settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement
mechanisms that are not simultaneous. While the amendment is expected not to have any
impact on the net assets of the Group, any changes in offsetting is expected to impact leverage
ratios and regulatory capital requirements. The amendments to PAS 32 are to be
retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to PAS 32.



Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreement for Construction of Real Estate.
This interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that
undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors. The interpretation
`requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion,
except when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS
11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of services in which case revenue is
recognized based on stage of completion. Contracts involving provision of services with the
construction materials and where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred to the
buyer on a continuous basis will also be accounted for based on stage of completion. The SEC
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and the FRSC have deferred the effectivity of this interpretation until the final Revenue
standard is issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and an evaluation of
the requirements of the final Revenue standard against the practices of the Philippine real
estate industry is completed.


Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface
Mine. This interpretation applies to waste removal costs that are incurred in surface mining
activity during the production phase of the mine (“production stripping costs”) and provides
guidance on the recognition of production stripping costs as an asset and measurement of the
stripping activity asset. The Group is still in its development stage and has not yet started its
normal commercial and principal operation the interpretation will have no impact on its
financial statement. This interpretation becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2013.

4. Summary of Significant Accounting and Financial Reporting Policies
Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. This involves recognizing
identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business initially at fair value. If the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities exceeds the cost of the
business combination, the acquirer shall: (a) reassess the identification and measurement of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination;
and (b) recognize immediately in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment.
For business combinations achieved in stages, each exchange transaction is treated separately by
the Parent Company. The cost of the transaction and fair value information at the date of each
exchange transaction is used to determine the amount of any goodwill associated with that
transaction. This results in a step-by-step comparison of the cost of the individual investments
with the Parent Company’s interest in the fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities at each step.
The fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities may be
different at the date of each exchange transaction for the following reasons:
(a) the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are notionally restated to
their fair values at the date of each exchange transaction to determine the amount of any
goodwill associated with each transaction; and
(b) the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities must then be recognized
by the parent company at their fair values at the acquisition date.
Any resulting fair value adjustment to acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities relating to previously held interests of the Parent Company is accounted for as a
revaluation.
Non-controlling Interests (NCI)
NCI represent the portion of profit or loss and the net assets in subsidiaries, not held by the Parent
Company and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the equity
attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and cash in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, with original maturities of up
to three months or less from dates of acquisition and are subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value.
Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement. Financial instruments within the scope of PAS 39 are
classified as financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, AFS financial assets and other financial
liabilities. The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial
recognition.
All financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the
case of financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL.
Purchases or sales of financial instruments that require delivery of assets within a time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on
the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Subsequent Measurement. The subsequent measurement of the Group’s financial instruments
depends on their classification as described below. As of September 30, 2012 and December 31,
2012, the Group had no financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL and HTM investments.


Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any
impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortization, if any, is included in the “Interest income” account in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment of
receivables, if any, are recognized in the “General and Administrative expenses” account in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
This category includes the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, receivables and due from a
related party.



AFS Financial Assets
AFS financial assets include equity investments. These investments are those that are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or
loss. After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value with unrealized gains or losses recognized as other comprehensive income
until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is
recognized in other income or expenses. The fair value of investments that are
actively traded in organized financial markets is determined by reference to quoted
market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting date.
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Other Financial Liabilities
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as
at FVPL upon inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising from operations and
non-interest bearing loans and borrowings.
After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognized as well
as through the effective interest rate amortization process. Amortized cost is calculated by
taking into account any premium or discount on acquisition and fees and costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization, if any, is
included in “Interest income” account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
This classification includes the Group’s accounts payable and other current liabilities and due
to related parties.

Determination of Fair Value. The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction
for transaction costs at the close of business on the reporting date. When current bid prices and
asking prices are not available, the prices of the most recent transaction provide evidence of the
current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic circumstances
since the time of the transaction.
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using
appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured
are provided in Note 19.
Day 1 difference. When the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair
value from other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group
recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 difference) in the
consolidated profit or loss unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset. In cases
where use is made of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price
and model value is only recognized in the consolidated profit or loss when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines
the appropriate method of recognizing the Day 1 difference.
Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial Assets. A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:


the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;



the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and
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rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognizes an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
Financial Liabilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability
is discharged, cancelled or has expired.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred
“loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and when observable data indicate that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.
Assets Carried at Amortized Cost. For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first
assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If
the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually or assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that are not yet incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets’ original effective
interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
The interest income is recorded under interest income account in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there
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is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized or has been
transferred to the Group.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the other income account in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective
evidence (the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the
Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice.
The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Impaired receivables are derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible.
AFS Financial Assets. In case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, objective
evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment
below its cost. Significant is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and prolonged
against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. When there is evidence
of impairment, the cumulative loss which is measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Offsetting of Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case with master netting agreements,
and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
Exploration and Evaluation Costs
Pre-license costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Once the legal right to
explore has been acquired, exploration and evaluation expenditures are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as incurred, unless there is a future economic
benefit that is more likely to be realized than not. These costs include materials and fuel used,
surveying costs, drilling costs and payments made to contractors.
In evaluating if expenditures meet the criteria to be capitalized, several different sources of
information are utilized. The information that is used to determine the probability of future
benefits depends on the extent of exploration and evaluation that has been performed.
Asset Held for Sale
Asset held for sale is a property being constructed or acquired for sale in the ordinary course of
business, and is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). NRV is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to complete and
make the sale.
Investment in an Associate
The Group’s investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method. An associate is
an entity in which the Group has significant influence.
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Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried on the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of
operations of the associate. When there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the
associate, the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in
the statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize
any additional impairment loss on its investment in the associate. The Group determines at each
reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in an associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the
difference in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Investment in a Joint Venture
The Parent Company has an interest in a joint venture, which is a jointly controlled entity,
whereby the venturers have a contractual agreement that establishes joint control over the
economic activities of the entity. The agreement requires unanimous agreement for financial and
operating decisions among the venturers.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less
accumulated depreciation and amortization and any accumulated impairment in value. Such cost
includes the cost of replacing part of such property and equipment when that cost is incurred, if
the recognition criteria are met.
Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the
property and equipment. The useful life of each of the Group’s property and equipment is
estimated based on the period over which the asset is expected to be available for use. Such
estimation is based on a collective assessment of industry practice and experience with similar
assets.
The useful lives of the Group’s property and equipment are estimated as follows:
Transportation equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures
Drilling and exploration equipment

5 years
3 years
3 years

The property and equipment’s useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
in the year the item is derecognized.
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Mining Rights
Mining rights are carried at cost less amortization and impairment in value, if any. Amortization
shall commence at the start of commercial production based on units of production. Amortization
shall cease at the earlier of the date that the intangible assets is classified as held for sale in
accordance with PFRS 5 and the date that asset is derecognized.
An impairment review is performed when there are indicators that the carrying amount of the
assets may exceed their recoverable amounts. To the extent that this occurs, the excess is fully
provided against, in the financial period in which this is determined. Mining rights are reassessed
on a regular basis and these costs are carried forward provided that at least one of the following
conditions is met:



such costs are expected to be recouped in full through successful development and exploration
of the area of interest or alternatively, by its sale; or
exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable
reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area continuing, or planned
for the future.

Mining rights represent the Group’s intangible asset for its right to mine certain areas.
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. When the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and
is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Any
impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
Revenue
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must
also be met before revenue is recognized:
Service income. Revenue is recognized upon rendering of service.
Interest income. Revenue is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the effective
yield on the asset.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses constitute cost of administering the business and are
recognized as incurred.
Operating Leases
Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Income Tax
Current Income Tax. Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.
Deferred Income Tax. Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all
temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
income tax assets are recognized for the net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) and minimum
corporate income tax (MCIT), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profits
will be available against which the NOLCO and MCIT can be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income tax relates
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to equity
holders of the Group by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
adjusted to give retroactive effect to any stock dividends declared during the year.
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to equity
holders of the Group for the year by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the year.
Diluted earnings per share is computed in the same manner, adjusted for the effect of the any
potential dilutive shares.
When the effect of the potential shares is anti-dilutive, basic and diluted earnings per share are
stated at the same amount.

Segment Reporting
An operating segment is a component of an entity:
a) that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses
(including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same
entity);
b) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker
to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance;
and
c) for which discrete financial information is available.
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Provisions
Provisions, if any, are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligations; and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessment of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized as interest expense.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are
disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial
statements when inflows of economic benefits are probable.
Events after the Reporting Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information on the Group’s financial position at the
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated
financial statements when material.

5. Significant Accounting Judgment, Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial
statements and related notes at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated
financial statements:


Classification of Financial Instruments
The Group classifies a financial instrument or its component parts, on initial recognition as a
financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial liability or
an equity instrument. The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form,
governs its classification in the consolidated statement of financial position. Classification of
financial instruments is disclosed in Note 19.



Operating Lease
The Group has entered into commercial property leases related to their office spaces. As a
lessee, the Group determined that it does not acquire the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of this property which are being leased by the Group under operating lease
arrangements.
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Capitalization of Exploration Costs
Exploration costs are capitalized until the viability of the mineral interest is determined.
Exploration, evaluation and pre-feasibility costs are charged to operations in the period
incurred until such time as it has been determined that a property has economically
recoverable reserves, in which case, subsequent exploration costs and the costs incurred to
develop a property are capitalized. In 2012 and 2011, all exploration costs were charged to
operations.

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:


Fair Value of Financial Instruments
PFRS requires that financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) be carried or disclosed at fair value, which requires the use of accounting
estimates and judgment. While significant components of fair value measurement are
determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and
volatility rates), the timing and amount of changes in fair value would differ using a different
valuation methodology. When Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy is used to determine the fair
value of financial instruments, inputs and assumptions are based on market observable data
and conditions, and reflect appropriate risk adjustments that market participants would make
for credit and liquidity risks existing for each of the periods indicated. Any change in the fair
values of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) directly
affects the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and equity and related disclosure.
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities by category and the fair value hierarchy are
set out in Note 19 of the consolidated financial statements.



Estimation of Allowance for Impairment Loss on Receivables and Due from a Related Party
A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the receivable is impaired.
The Group recognized impairment loss on receivables amounting to P
= nil in September 30,
2012 and, P
=1.8 million in 2011(see Note 6).
The carrying values of receivables as of September 30, 2012 and December 31,
2011amounted to P
=175.4 million and P
=0.5 million, respectively (see Note 6). The carrying
values of due from a related party as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011
amounted to =
P55.6 million (see Note 16).



Estimation of Useful Lives of Property and Equipment
The useful life of each of the Group’s property and equipment is estimated based on the
period over which the asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation is based on a
collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with
similar assets. The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed periodically and updated if
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the asset. It is possible,
NiHAO Mineral Resources International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
September 30, 2012 Amended Quarterly Report
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the
amounts and timing of recorded expenses brought about by changes in the factors mentioned
above. A reduction in the estimated useful life of any property and equipment would increase
the recorded operating expenses and decrease noncurrent assets.
The carrying values of the Group’s property and equipment as of September 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 amounted to =
P63.5 million and P
=2.50 million, respectively (see Note 13).


Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
An impairment review is performed when certain impairment indicators are present.
Determining the value in use of nonfinancial assets, require the determination of future cash
flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such asset,
require the Group to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect its financial
statements. Future events could cause the Group to conclude that the nonfinancial assets are
impaired. Any resulting additional impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on
the Group’s financial condition and results of operations. The preparation of the estimated
future cash flows involves significant judgment and estimations.
The carrying values of the investment in an associate amounted to P
=51.2 million and =
P74.9
million as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively (see Note 9). The
carrying values of the Group’s property and equipment as of September 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 amounted to =
P63.5 million and P
=2.5 million, respectively (see Note 13).
The carrying values of the Group’s mining rights amounted to P
=201.6 million as of September
30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (see Note 12). The carrying value of investment in a joint
venture as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 amounted to P
=13,946 (see Note
10). The carrying values of other noncurrent assets amounted to P
=0.5 million and P
=0.3
million as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively. There were no
impairment loss recognized on the Group’s nonfinancial assets in 2012 and 2011.

6. Receivables

Nontrade:
Advances to:
Suppliers
Officers and employees
Others
Interest receivable

September 30,
2012
P29,075,963

Dec. 31, 2011

=1,762,343
P
147,336,157
94,091
585,464
2,917,867
3,105,733
353,147
0
5,127,448
180,103,317
Less allowance for impairment loss
4,668,229
4,668,229
= 459,219
P
P
=175,435,088
On 13 June 2012, the Parent Company entered into an operating agreement with Geogen
Corporation under which the Parent Company have an exclusive right to explore, operate, mine,
develop utilize and process any materials found within the Contract Area of Geogen’s mineral
property consisting of an aggregate area of 2,391.4081 hectares more less located at Dinapigue,
Isabela. For and in consideration of the services to be performed by NiHAO, Geogen shall pay
NiHAO an amount equivalent to 90% of the invoice value of the nickel ore, nickel by-products,
chromite and other minerals sold by Geogen to third parties. To date, Geogen has shipped a total
of 104,397.35 WMT of nickel ore. The related receivable amounting to P29.08 million is
presented as “Nontrade receivables”. .
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Advances to suppliers, officers and employees, others and interest receivable generally have 30 to
60 days’ terms.
Advances to suppliers pertain to advance payment for services to be rendered for the development
of the project and exploration studies to various contractors required under the MPSA and for
royalties to the surface rights owner.
Interest receivable pertains to the amount of interest accrued on the Group’s deposits on a local
bank.
Other receivables pertain to cash advances to third parties which are due upon demand.
Allowance for impairment loss pertains to the following:
September
Advances to:
Suppliers
Others

30,
2012

P
=1,762,343
2,905,886
P
=4,668,229

Dec. 31, 2011

=1,762,343
P
2,905,886
=4,668,229
P

Aging of Accounts Receivable as at September 30, 2012:
Current
P 175,435,088
Over 60 days past due
4,668,229
Total
P 180,103,317

7.

Asset Held for Sale
In 2011, MTGI reclassified its pre-fabricated collapsible building from “Other noncurrent assets”
account to “Asset held for sale” account. The sale of the pre-fabricated collapsible building is
expected to be consummated in 2012. Upon reclassification, the pre-fabricated collapsible
building was carried at its carrying value amounting to P
=3.0 million, which is lower than its fair
value less costs to sell.
8. Available-for-sale Financial Assets
This account consists of equity investments in ordinary common shares of stock of a publicly
listed company amounting to =
P66.90 million as of September 30, 2012, as follows:
Acquisition cost as of December 31, 2011
Net change in fair value
Balance as at December 31, 2011
Acquisitions
Sold shares
Net change in fair value
Balance as at September 30, 2012

=298,564,854
P
(27,244,854)
=271,320,000
P
56,797,499
( 278,678,498)
17,461,891
P
= 66,900,892

The net change in fair value of the available-for-sale financial assets was recorded under
“Unrealized cumulative losses on available-for-sale financial assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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9.

Investment in an Associate

Acquisition cost
Accumulated equity in net earnings:
Balance at beginning of year
Share in net loss for the year
Balance at end of year
Investment in an associate

September 30,
2012
P
=63,000,000
11,942,989
(23,705,202)
(11,762,213)
P
=51,237,787

Dec. 31,2011
=63,000,000
P
2,635,162
9,307,827
11,942,989
=74,942,989
P

On March 24, 2010, the Parent Company acquired 3,000 shares of ORVI for =
P3.0 million,
representing a 30% equity interest. ORVI is a privately-held mining operator. On March 31,
2010, ORVI amended its articles of incorporation, increasing its authorized capital stock from
40,000 shares to 400,000 shares with par value of =
P1,000 per share. To maintain its equity
interest in ORVI, the Parent Company purchased, for P
=60 million, additional 60,000 shares,
equal to 30% of the subscription to the increase in authorized capital stock.
The Company also extended non-interest bearing advances to ORVI to be used as funding for its
existing mining projects. Advances to ORVI amounted to P
=55.5 million as of September 30,
2012 and December 31, 2011.
The following table presents information on the financial position and performance of ORVI as of
September 30, 2012 and for the year ended December 31, 2011:

Total Assets
Total Liabilities
Total Equity
Total Net Income (Loss)

September 30,
2012
P
=790,335,042
629,997,707
160,337,335
(79,017,341)

Dec. 31, 2011
=634,328,530
P
394,973,855
239,354,675
31,026,090

10. Investment in a Joint Venture
On September 27, 2011, the Parent Company, Asiabest Group International, Inc. (ABG) formerly
AGP Industrial Corporation (AGPI) and Glencore International AG (Glencore) executed a Heads
of Agreement (HOA) in Hong Kong. Under the HOA, the parties agreed to utilize their
respective expertise in the mining industry for purposes of investigating, identifying, acquiring,
developing and operating mining claims of economically feasible nickel deposits in the
Philippines for purposes of direct shipping or selling of ore and other related nickel mining
business. Glencore shall contribute its expertise in marketing of nickel ores in the world market
as well as its network of various institutions internationally. On the other hand, the Parent
Company and ABG shall utilize their expertise in mining, contracting and developing mines in the
Philippines and their knowledge of relevant Philippine laws, rules and regulations and issues.
In order to accomplish the said purpose, the parties agreed to form within a period of two months
from the signing of the HOA, a joint venture company (JVC) under the laws of Hong Kong.
Pursuant to the Addendum to HOA dated October 28, 2011, the JVC will have an initial
authorized capital of HK$100,000 with a par value of HK$1/share. The JVC should have an
initial issued and paid-in capital of HK$10,000 to be contributed by the parties as follows: (1)
50% from Glencore; and (2) 25% each for the Parent Company and ABG.
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Moreover, the parties agree to execute the following implementing agreements of the HOA:
 Marketing agreement whereby Glencore will act as the exclusive marketing agent for the JVC
and market and sell all material produced by the JVC;
 Management agreement;
 Contractor(s) agreement; and,
 Any other agreements agreed by the parties as being necessary or useful to facilitate the
implementation and operation of the JVC.
The JVC under the name of GNA Resources International Limited (GNA) was incorporated in
Hong Kong on November 23, 2011. The Company’s contribution of P
=13,946 to the JVC was
advanced by a related party. As of September 30, 2012, the JVC has not started its main business
operation.

11. Business Combinations
Acquisition of Oregalore Inc. (“OI”)
On March 10, 2011, the Parent Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of OI pursuant to
a Memorandum of Agreement between the Parent Company and the previous stockholders of OI.
Under the agreement, the total consideration of P
=108.0 million covered the assignment of all
outstanding shares of OI, assignment of advances made by the previous stockholders to OI
aggregating P
=125.5 million and the 80% ownership of outstanding shares of Masbate13 held by
OI. The advances was subjected to debt to equity conversion and was approved by the SEC in
August 2012.
Masbate13 is the owner of a gold mining claim covering 8,357.3509 hectares in the
Municipalities of Milagros and Mandaon in Masbate.
The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was measured at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of OI as at the date of acquisition were:
Fair value recognized
on acquisition
Assets:
Cash in banks
Mining rights
Other current assets

=3,820,625
P
152,136,833
1,702,200
157,659,658

Liabilities:
Accrued expenses
Due to related parties
Total identifiable net assets at fair value

89,600
2,469,626
2,559,226
=155,100,432
P

Non-controlling interest
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition
Purchase consideration

(29,919,721)
(17,180,711)
=108,000,000
P
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OI obtained an independent valuation for the gold mining claim of Masbate13. The valuation
showed that the fair value at the date of acquisition was P
=152.1 million. This was presented under
“Mining rights” account in the consolidated statement of financial position. The excess of the fair
value of the net assets acquired over the purchase price amounting to P
=17.2 million is presented as
“Income from the acquisition of a subsidiary” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as of December 31, 2011.
Sale of Subsidiaries
Details of the sale of the subsidiaries in 2011 are presented below:
a. The Parent Company sold its ownership in Visayas Ore Philippines, Inc. to an
individual for a total consideration of P
=2.5 million. This transaction was approved by the
BOD of the Parent Company on November 3, 2011.
b. Pursuant to various Deeds of Absolute Sale, MTGI sold its ownership in Companhia Minera
Tierra, Inc., Companhia Nube Minerale, Inc. and Minedomain, Inc. to the same individual for
a total consideration of P
=7.5 million. The transactions were approved by the BOD of MTGI
on June 16, 2011 and November 3, 2011.

12. Mining Rights
Mining rights represent the Group’s intangible asset for its right to mine certain areas. The details
of which are presented below:
September 30,
2012
P
=49,496,586
152,136,833
P
=201,633,419

Botolan, Zambales
Milagros and Mandaon Masbate

Dec. 31, 2011
=49,496,586
P
152,136,833
=201,633,419
P

13. Property and Equipment
September 30, 2012
Office
Equipment,
Transportation
Laboratory
Furniture and
Equipment
Fixtures
Equipment
Cost:
Balance at beginning of
year
Additions
Disposals
Balance at end of year
Less accumulated
Depreciation:
Balance at beginning of
year
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at end of year
Net Book Value

Site
Assets

Total

P
= 2,350,000

P
=145,810
274,647

P
= 1,103,285
–

P
=
62,412,040

P
= 3,599,095
62,686,687

2,350,000

420,457

1,103,285

62,412,040

66,285,782

305,834
352,499
–
658,333
P
= 1,691,667

112,097
59,910
172,007
P
=248,450

683,749
165,494
849,243
P
=254,042

1,096,497
1,096,497
P
=61,315,543

1,101,680
1,674,400
2,776,080
P
= 63,509,702
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Transportation
Equipment
Cost:
Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Balance at end of year
Less accumulated
Depreciation:
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation
Disposals
Balance at end of year
Net Book Value

P
= 350,000
2,000,000

December 31, 2011
Office
Equipment,
Laboratory
Furniture and
Fixtures
Equipment

Total

2,350,000

P
=1,600,088
13,215
(1,467,493)
145,810

P
=1,438,807
–
(335,522)
1,103,285

P
=3,388,895
2,013,215
(1,803,015)
3,599,095

169,167
136,667
–
305,834
P
= 2,044,166

1,531,380
48,210
(1,467,493)
112,097
P
= 33,713

798,614
220,657
(335,522)
683,749
P
= 419,536

2,499,161
405,534
(1,803,015)
1,101,680
P
=2,497,415

14. Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities
September 30,
2012
P
=63,741
4,231,809
1,204,869
0
P
=5,500,419

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Withholding Taxes and others
Others

Dec. 2011
=63,741
P
4,663,662
365,591
3,258
=5,096,252
P

15. Capital Stock
Movements in the authorized and issued number of shares are as follows:

Common shares - P
=1 par value
Authorized
Balance at beginning of year
Increase during the year
Balance at end of year
Issued
Balance at beginning of year
Issuance during the year
Balance at end of year

September 30,
2012

Dec. 2011

2,000,000,000

2,000,000,000

2,000,000,000

2,000,000,000

880,000,000
33,000,000
913,000,000

680,000,000
200,000,000
880,000,000

On December 29, 2010, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with one of its
stockholders to open for subscription a portion of the Company’s authorized but unissued capital
stock. The stockholder has agreed to subscribe to 80,000,000 common shares at a subscription
price of P
=1.35 per share for a total consideration of P
=108,000,000. The issuance resulted in an
increase in additional paid-in capital of P
=28.0 million. Proceeds from the issuance of shares were
intended to fund business expansion activities that the Company plans to undertake in the
succeeding years, including the acquisition of mining tenements and mining rights. On the same
date, the Company’s BOD approved the issuance of additional shares of stocks through a stock
rights offering (SRO), implemented on a 2:5 proportion. This was to provide other stockholders
with equal opportunity to subscribe to new share issuances of the Company.
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In 2011, the Company entered into various subscription agreements with a stockholder for
additional subscriptions to the portion of the Company’s authorized but unissued capital stock, as
follows:

Date
September 21, 2011
August 16, 2011

Number of
shares
100,000,000
100,000,000
200,000,000

Subscription
Total
price per share consideration
=2.00 P
P
=200,000,000
2.25 225,000,000
=425,000,000
P

Increase in
additional
paid-in
capital
=100,000,000
P
125,000,000
=225,000,000
P

Proceeds from the subscriptions are intended to acquire equity in mining companies for strategic
business purposes and mining equipment to further enhance the mining assets portfolio of the
Company.
On December 9, 2011, the Group’s stockholders approved the waiver of the requirement for a
rights offer of private placement shares pursuant to Section 9 of Article V of the Revised Listing
Rules. The approval resulted in a waiver of SRO to other stockholders.
On February 11, 2012, the Board of Directors approved the execution, delivery and
performance of an Investment Agreement (the “Agreement”) by and among Macquarie,
NiHAO and one of its major shareholders, embodying a Multi-tranche Average Price
Issuance Program (“Issuance Program”) resulting in Macquarie Bank’s subscription to
newly-issued common shares of stock in NiHAO on a private placement basis
(“Transaction”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, Macquarie Bank agreed to subscribe to NiHAO shares of up to
an aggregate amount of One Hundred Fifty Million (150,000,000) (the “Subscriber Shares”),
which shall be purchased in tranches, from NiHAO’s authorized but unissued capital stock,
provided that, prior to NiHAO’s obtaining the approval of its shareholders to the Transaction
(including the issuances of NiHAO shares to Macquarie Bank), Macquarie Bank shall not
make any subscription that will result in Macquarie Bank’s total shareholdings in NiHAO
exceeding Ninety-Five Million (95,000,000) Shares, which number is just below ten percent
(10%) of the resulting issued capital stock of the Company.
The first tranche culminated on 02 March 2012 where Macquarie Bank Limited executed a
Subscription Agreement covering the subscription of 33 Million common shares with a par
value of P1.00 per share. The subscribed shares are payable in cash at a subscription price of
P 9.46 per share or an aggregate value of Three Hundred Twelve Million One Hundred
Eighty Thousand Pesos (P 312,180,000.00). The difference between the aggregate par value
of the subscribed shares and the total cash payment made by Macquarie Bank for the same
shall be treated as additional paid-in capital in NiHAO.
On April 12, 2012, the stockholders approved the private placements of Macquarie Bank
Limited of up to One Hundred Fifty Million (150,000,000) shares. The Majority of the minority
shareholders waived the conduct of a rights or public offering with respect to the Private
Placement Shares of Macquarie Bank. The stockholders likewise approved the Use of Proceeds of
the private placement of Macquarie Bank which was presented by the Corporation’s Management
during the Special Stockholders’ Meeting.
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16.

Related Party Transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
This includes: (i) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
control or are controlled by, or under common control with the Company; (ii) associates; and (iii)
individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Company that
gives them significant influence over the Company and close members of the family of any such
individual.
In considering each related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, and not merely the legal form.
Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties
Outstanding balances of transactions with related parties are unsecured, noninterest bearing,
payable on demand and settlements are made in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or
received for any related party receivables or payables.
Transactions with Related Parties
In the normal course of business, transactions with related parties include the following:
Associate
a. On March 24, 2010, the Parent Company entered into a loan facility agreement with ORVI
amounting to P
=137,000,000. The non-interest bearing loan is to be used by ORVI exclusively
for funding of its existing mining projects. Payment of the loan can be made in cash or in
shares of stock in ORVI or in a company listed with PSE as may be mutually agreed upon by
the Parent Company and ORVI. The loan is payable in one year and in the event of failure of
ORVI to pay the outstanding loan on the maturity date, the Parent Company will charge
interest on the outstanding balance based on the Philippine Dealing System Treasury Fixing
rate. The balance as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 amounted to
=55,500,000.
P
b. The Parent Company extended non-interest bearing advances to ORVI for working capital
requirements. As of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, total outstanding advances
to ORVI amounted to =
P80,160.
Joint Venture
c. The Parent Company extended non-interest bearing advances to GNA Resources
International Limited to pay professional fees for opening a bank account. Total
advances amounted to P46,008.
Companies with Common Shareholders or Interlocking Directors
d. AU Philippines, Inc. (AU), the previous majority shareholder of Masbate13, extended noninterest bearing advances to Masbate13. The outstanding balance as of September 30, 2012
and December 31, 2011 amounted to P
=2.0 million.
e. The Parent Company entered into HOA with Geograce where the latter shall be granted
exclusive right to various mining tenements controlled by the Parent Company. Geograce,
together with the Parent Company, also signed a Cooperation Agreement with Jiangxi Rare
Earth and Rare Metals Tungsten Group Co. (Jiangxi).
f.

Geograce extended non-interest bearing cash advances to Masbate13 for working capital
requirements. Outstanding balance as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011
amounted to =
P0.9 million.
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g. On October 19, 2011, the Parent Company entered into a Contract of Lease with Angping &
Associates Securities Inc. (AASI) for the lease of its office space and parking slots. The lease
is for a period of three (3) years beginning October 19, 2011 with the option to renew for
another two (2) years. The monthly lease rental is =
P103,180 inclusive of taxes and
association dues. The security deposit for the lease amounting to P
=280,114 will be returned to
the Parent Company not earlier than sixty (60) days after the termination of the lease contract.
The security deposit is recorded in “Other noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
h. In 2011, the Parent Company opened an account with AASI in order for the Parent Company
to buy and sell shares of companies listed in the stock exchange under such terms and
conditions as may be beneficial to the Parent Company.

Outstanding balances arising from these transactions as of September 30, 2012 and December 31,
2011 are as follows:
September 30,
2012
Due from related party
ORVI
GNA Resources International Limited
Due to:
AU
Geograce Resources International, Inc.

Dec. 31, 2011

P
=55,580,160
46,008
P
=55,626,168

P
=55,580,160

P
=1,953,741
898,043
P
=2,851,784

P
=1,953,741
898,043
=2,851,784
P

P
=55,580,160

17. Agreements and Commitments
As of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Group is a party to the following
agreements:
HOA with Geograce
Pursuant to the HOA, Geograce has been granted the exclusive right to explore, develop and
operate various mining tenements which are controlled by the Parent Company or controlled
by it through its subsidiaries MTGI, BGI and OI (collectively known as the “Mining
Tenements”).
Geograce’s exclusive right to explore, develop and operate any, some or all of the Mining
Tenements covered by the HOA shall be conditional upon the fulfillment of the following
conditions precedent:
(a) satisfactory legal and technical due diligence on the Parent Company and the Mining
Tenements;
(b) satisfactory legal and technical due diligence on MTGI, BGI and OI and their respective
mining tenements; and
(c) the approval of the terms and conditions of the Operating Agreements for any, some or all of
the mining tenements by the appropriate regulatory agencies.
Subject to compliance with applicable laws, the parties intend to execute the necessary Operating
Agreements within sixty (60) days from the date the EPs are secured for the various Mining
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Tenements covered by the HOA with Geograce. Subject to such other terms and conditions as
may be agreed upon by the parties in the Operating Agreements, the Parent Company shall be
entitled to receive at least fifty percent (50%) of the net profits arising from or relating to the
operation of the Mining Tenements.
The HOA with Geograce Agreement also granted Geograce the option to purchase any, some or
all of the Mining Tenements by way of cash or through property-for-share swaps whereby
Geograce shall issue unissued shares in exchange for the target mining tenements. The option to
purchase granted to Geograce is subject to the completion of satisfactory due diligence, the fair
valuation of the target Mining Tenements and the approval of said transactions by the appropriate
regulatory agencies.
Cooperation Agreement with Jiangxi
The agreement is to form a strategic partnership to jointly explore and develop the six mining
tenements directly and indirectly held by the Parent Company and Geograce and are located in
the province of Zambales.
HOA with ABG and Glencore
For the details of this agreement, please refer to Note 10 of the consolidated financial statements.
Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) by and among the Parent Company, Capital Gold
Pty Ltd. (“Capital Gold”) and Capital Resources Corporation (“Capital Resources”)
On January 12, 2012, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the execution, delivery and
performance of a MOA by and among the Parent Company, Capital Gold and Capital Resources
for the acquisition of Capital Gold and Capital Resources of the shares of stocks of either of the
following:
(a) OI, a wholly owned subsidiary;
(b) MPI, a subsidiary through OI; or
(c) A new company incorporated under the laws of the Philippines (a, b and c, collectively
referred to as the “Parent Company target”)
Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, which include, among others, the completion by
the parties of the legal and technical due diligence, the parties have agreed to the following:
(a) The identity of the Parent Company target will be confirmed by Capital Gold after carrying
out the legal and technical due diligence;
(b) Capital Resources shall be listed and its entire issued share capital admitted to trading on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange (FSE) and the Parent Company target together with the other assets
of Capital Gold located in Australia shall be infused into Capital Resources;
(c) Capital Resources shall acquire 40% of the entire issued and outstanding shares of stock of
the Parent Company target (the “Parent Company target shares”), or an equivalent
proportionate interest (in case the shares of OI was acquired) for the consideration of
50,000,000 shares in Capital Resources (the “Subscription”) at current listing value of EURO
(EUR) 0.10 per share and US$250,000.
(d) Upon the acquisition of the Parent Company target:
a. Capital Resources shall be granted, through a shareholders’ agreement, 1 seat to the
BOD of the Parent Company;
b. The Parent Company shall grant Capital Resources the option to acquire additional
35% interest on the Parent Company target or an equivalent proportionate share,
through a separate block of shares, for the consideration of US$500,000 and earnedin exploration expenditure of US$3,000,000 on the Parent Company target. The
option is exercisable within 3 years after the acquisition; and
(e) The Parent Company shall enter into a lock-in arrangement with Capital Resources with
regards to the Subscription for a period of 12 months from the date the shares of Capital
Resources are admitted for trading on the FSE.
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On September 18, 2012, the Board of Directors approved the execution, delivery and performance
of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) by and among NiHAO, Capital Gold Pty Ltd and
Welcome Stranger Mining Ltd for the acquisition by Capital Gold and Welcome Stranger from
NiHAO of 40% of the issued share of capital of Masbate 13 Philippines, Inc., a subsidiary of
NiHAO’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Oregalore, Inc. The MOA supersedes the MOU.
Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, the Parties to the MOA have agreed that:
(a) Welcome Stranger shall acquire forty percent (40%) of the entire issued and outstanding share
capital of Masbate 13 in consideration for which NiHAO/Oregalore shall receive fifty million
(50,000,000) shares in Welcome Stranger at an indicative listing market value of twenty
Australian cents (AUG 0.20/share) per share.
(b) Welcome Stranger will pay to NiHAO/Oregalore a cash consideration of two hundred fifty
thousand US dollars (US$250,000); and
(c) Welcome Stranger shall have the option to buy an additional forty percent (40%) of the entire
issued and outstanding share capital of Masbate 13 upon terms and conditions acceptable to
NiHAO.
Agreement by and among Macquarie Bank Limited (“Macquarie Bank”), Parent Company and
one of its Major Shareholders
The BOD of the Parent Company approved the execution, delivery and performance of an
Investment Agreement (the “Agreement”) by and among Macquarie Bank, the Parent Company
and one of its major shareholder, embodying a Multi-tranche Average Price Issuance Program
(“Issuance Program”) resulting in Macquarie Bank’s subscription to newly-issued common shares
of stock in the Parent Company (the “NiHAO Shares”) on a private placement basis
(“Transaction”).
Pursuant to the Agreement, Macquaire Bank agreed to subscribe to the Parent Company’s shares
of up to an aggregate amount of 150,000,000, which shall be purchased in tranches, from the
Parent Company’s authorized but unissued capital stock, provided that, prior to the Parent
Company’s obtaining the approval of its shareholders to the Transaction, Macquarie Bank shall
not make any subscription that will result in Macquarie Bank’s total shareholdings in the Parent
Company exceeding 95,000,000 shares, which number is just below ten percent (10%) of the
resulting issued capital stock of the Company. The Parent Company will raise approximately
United States Dollar (US$) 25,000,000 to US$30,000,000 from the issuance of the shares.
Macquarie Bank’s right to subscribe to the Subscriber Shares shall expire (1) year from the
execution of the Agreement, or upon Macquarie Bank having subscribed to and been issued
150,000,000 Subscriber Shares, whichever event occurs earlier.
In relation to the Agreement, on March 2, 2012, the Parent Company and Macquarie Bank
executed a Subscription Agreement covering the Macquarie Bank’s subscription of the
33,000,000 common shares with a par value of =
P1.00 per share for a subscription price of =
P9.46
per share for a total consideration of P
=312.2 million. The subscription will result to an increase in
the additional paid-in capital of P
=279.2 million.
Operating Agreement with Geogen Corporation (“Geogen”)
On June 13, 2012, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the execution of an Operating
Agreement between NiHAO and GEOGEN, under which NiHAO shall have the exclusive right to
explore, operate, mine, develop, utilize and process any minerals found within the Contract Area
of Geogen’s mineral property consisting of a total area of 2,391.4081 hectares located at
Dinapigue, Isabela, which is covered by MPSA No. 258-2007-II dated July 30, 2007 (the
“Mineral Property”).
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As previously disclosed to the PSE, Geogen and Nihao executed a General Contractor Agreement
dated 05 March 2012 for the appointment of NiHAO as Geogen’s general contractor over a
specified area of the Mineral Property. Both parties have expressed a mutual interest to convert
the General Contractor Agreement executed between them for purposes of improving and
continuing with the operation, conduct of commercial mining activity, development, and
utilization of minerals within the Contract Area of the Mineral Property. For such reason, the
General Contractor Agreement executed between the Parties is deemed superseded by the
operating agreement and is rendered of no force and effect as of the date of effectivity of the
Operating Agreement.
Geogen shall pay the Parent Company an amount equivalent to 90% of the invoice value of the
nickel ore sold by Geogen to third parties in consideration of the following contractor services to
be performed by the Parent Company:
Marketing Agency Agreement with Glencore
On March 12, 2012, the Parent Company and Glencore executed a Marketing Agency Agreement
in which the Parent Company appointed Glencore as its marketing agent for the purpose of
providing marketing and sales agency services relating to the sale of nickel produced by the
Group. The Parent Company and Glencore agreed that the sale of nickel under the agreement
shall be under the brand name of GNA.
Under the agreement, Glencore is given the authority to market and sell nickel, or entered into a
sales contract, in behalf of the Parent Company. For the consideration of the services of
Glencore, the Parent Company shall pay a commission at the rate of US$0.25 per wet metric
tonne of the sales value of any nickel sold.
The term is valid for 1 year, unless terminated earlier, in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the agreement.

18. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprises of cash and cash equivalents, due from a
related party and due to related parties. The purpose of these financial instruments is to fund the
Group’s operations. The Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as receivables and
account payable and other current liabilities which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group is not subject to any market risk such as interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk
because the Group does not have financial instruments that are subject to interest rate at market
price and are denominated in foreign currency.
Risk management is carried out by the Group’s management under policies approved by the
Board. The Group’s management identifies and evaluates financial risk in close cooperation with
the Group’s operating units. The Group provides principles for overall risk management, as
follows:
Credit Risk
The Group’s credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a
financial instrument leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its
deposits with banks. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying
amount of these instruments as summarized below:
September 30,
2012

Dec. 31, 2011
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Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Advances to others
Interest receivable
Nontrade
Due from a related party
AFS financial assets

P
=662,520,022

=304,155,480
P

146,359,125
29,075,963
55,626,168
66,900,892
P
=960,482,170

106,072
353,148
55,580,160
271,320,000
=631,514,860
P

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as high grade since these are deposited and invested with
a reputable bank and can be withdrawn anytime.
The credit quality of receivables is determined as follows:


Grade A (High grade)
This includes receivables from debtors that always pay on time or even before the maturity
date and is classified as low risk debtors.



Grade B (Standard grade)
This includes receivables from clients that are collected on their due dates provided that they
were reminded or followed up by the Group and are classified as medium risk.



Grade C (Substandard grade)
This includes receivables from debtors which are collected within their due dates but require
persistent effort from the Group and are classified as high risk.

AFS financial assets are considered as high grade because it pertains to investment in a publicly
listed entity with good financial operations.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group could not be able to settle or meet its
obligations on time or at a reasonable price.
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk relate to raising funds. The Group manages its liquidity
profile to be able to finance capital expenditures and service maturing debts. To cover its
financing requirements, the Group intends to use internally generated funds and available shortterm credit facilities.
As part of its liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual
cash flows. It also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to
pursue fund raising activities, in case any requirements arise.
As of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Group’s other financial liabilities are
summarized below:

Accounts payable and other current liabilities*
Due to related parties

September 30,
2012
P
=4,309,496
2,851,784
P
=7,161,280

Dec. 2011
=5,016,114
P
2,851,784
=7,867,898
P

*Excluding taxes payables
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Accounts payable and other current liabilities are normally settled within 30 days. Due to related
parties are payable on demand. As of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the
Company’s financial assets amounting to P
=913,082,170 and P
=631,514,860, respectively, were
determined by management to be realizable within one year.
Capital Management
The primary objective of the Company’s management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The Company manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as
total debt divided by equity. Total debt is the sum of accounts payable and other current
liabilities, income tax payable and advances from related parties.
Equity comprises all components of equity.
The Company’s debt-to-equity ratio as of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are as
follows:
September 30,
2012
P
=8,352,203
1,289,199,759
0.006

Total debt
Total equity
Debt-to-equity ratio

Dec. 2011
P7,948,037
=
911,973,394
0.009

19. Financial Instruments
Fair Values
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the
Company’s financial instruments that are carried in the consolidated financial statements as of
September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011:
September 30, 2012
Carrying
Value
Fair Value
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables:
Interest receivable
Advances to others
Nontrade
Due from a related party
AFS financial assets

Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and
other current liabilities*
Due to related parties

P
=662,520,022 P
=662,520,022

December 31, 2011
Carrying
Value
Fair Value

=304,155,480
P

=304,155,480
P

353,148
353,148
106,073
106,073
146,359,125
146,359,125
29,075,963
29,075,963
55,580,160
55,580,160
55,626,168
55,626,168
271,320,000
271,320,000
66,900,892
66,900,892
=631,514,861 P
=631,514,861
P
=960,482,170 P
=960,482,170 P

P
=4,309,496
2,851,784
P
=7,161,280

P
=4,309,496
2,851,784
P
=7,161,280

=5,016,114
P
2,851,784
=7,867,898
P

=5,016,114
P
2,851,784
=7,867,898
P

*Excludes taxes payable
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Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables, Due from a Related Party, Accounts Payable and Other
Current Liabilities and Due to Related Parties. Due to the short-term nature of the transactions
the carrying values of these financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values as of
reporting date.
AFS Financial Assets. The fair value of these financial assets are determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting date since these are actively
traded in organized financial market.
Fair Value Hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:


Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities



Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded
fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly



Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair
value that are not based on observable market data

As of September 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Group’s AFS financial assets are
measured using Level 1.
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